**RECEIVED**

**Jan 26 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Panel

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000600  
W.C.C. No. 1808344

---

Naomi Lynn Bridges.....Claimant, Appellant,

v.

Harbour Town Surf Shop, LLC, Employer,  
and South Carolina Uninsured Employers' Fund.....Respondents

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Law Office of Darrell Thomas Johnson, Jr.  
Warren Paul Johnson  
Joshua R. Fester  
300 Main Street  
Post Office Box 1125  
Hardeeville, South Carolina 29927  
(843) 784-2142

Attorneys for Appellant

January 26, 2022

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AND CONCLUDE THAT IT WAS DEFENDANTS' BURDEN OF SHOWING THAT THE CLAIMANT WAS REMOVED FROM THE SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF HER WORKPLACE ACCIDENT.
2. WHETHER THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING AND CONCLUDING THAT THE GREATER WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED THAT THE CLAIMANT LEFT THE SPHERE OF HER EMPLOYMENT BY VIOLATING SPECIFIC ORDERS NOT TO CLIMB THE LADDER.
3. WHETHER THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE GREATER WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THAT THE CLAIMANT SUFFERED FROM A PRE-EXISTING INJURY OR CONDITION AND THAT SHE FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROVING SHE HAD SUFFERED AN INJURY IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT.
4. WHETHER THE COMMISSION ERRED IN DETERMINING THE CLAIMANT'S AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE AND COMPENSATION RATE.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose out of a workplace incident in which the Claimant (hereinafter, "Ms. Bridges") sustained a tibial plateau fracture of the left leg after falling from a ladder at work on June 16, 2018. Ms. Bridges filed a Form 50 claiming injury to her left leg and her employer denied the claim. The claim was set for a hearing before the hearing Commissioner in Yemassee, South Carolina on July 24, 2019, and in Port Royal, South Carolina on July 26, 2019. At the hearing, the Claimant sought a determination of compensability for the injury to her left leg, which occurred as a result of her workplace accident. Claimant sought payment for past medical treatment, additional medical treatment and temporary total disability benefits from June 16, 2018, until such time as she reached maximum medical improvement.

At the hearing, the parties stipulated that the Employer was at all times relevant to this action, subject to the terms and provisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act (hereinafter, "the Act"). Employer admitted that the Claimant was, at all times relevant to this

action, an employee for purposes of the Act. The South Carolina Uninsured Employer's Fund (hereinafter, "UEF") was added as a party to this action because the Employer was not insured at the time of the Claimant's workplace accident. The employer and UEF asserted that the Claimant was acting outside the scope of her employment at the time of her workplace injury and in the alternative that her injuries did not arise out of her employment or were related to her employment.

The Employer and UEF contended that the Claimant's Average Weekly Wage (AWW) and Compensation Rate (CR) were \$354.62 and \$236.43, respectively. The Claimant asserted that her AWW and CR should include all amounts paid to her by her employer, including payments by check and cash, and taking into account her full schedule as listed in Claimant's Exhibit 1, resulting in a much higher AWW and CR.

In her Decision and Order, dated January 27, 2021, the Commissioner found and ordered *inter alia* as follows:

1. The Employer, Harbour Town Surf Shop, LLC was subject to the terms and provisions of the Act by stipulation and by regularly employing four (4) or more employees in South Carolina.
2. The Claimant was an employee of Employer, Harbour Town Surf Shop, LLC;
3. The record was left open for two (2) weeks following the hearing so that Claimant could produce her 2016, 2017, and 2018 tax returns and related documentation, which was under subpoena from Employer; however, claimant failed to timely produce this information.
4. Claimant did not articulate a clear way to calculate her AWW and CR: Claimant failed to produce her income tax records; during the year preceding the quarter in which the injury allegedly occurred, Claimant missed work due to her unrelated eye illness and for other reasons; Claimant voluntarily quit her Employment for some period of time during 2018; and the Employer's work is seasonal, as it closes for months during the off-season. The Claimant did place a significant emphasis on the schedule (Claimant's Ex. 1). However, the greater weight of the evidence is that Employer did not pay Claimant or any other party with payments under the table. This finding is supported by the testimony.

5. Claimant's Average Weekly Wage and Compensation Rate shall be based on the actual numbers as reflected in Employer's APA Submissions. This finding is supported by the testimony, the APA Submissions, and the witnesses, including Sweeting and Rodriguez, whom I find to be the most impartial witnesses.

6. The Claimant's Average Weekly Wage and Compensation Rate are \$368.80 and \$245.88, respectively.

7. That the Claimant suffered an injury to the left leg prior to June 16, 2018, and she was suffering from this injury prior to her alleged fall; this finding is supported by the witness testimony and comports with the admitted instructions given to her not to climb the ladder.

8. That Claimants Exhibits No. 3 and 5 are not dispositive of anything and do not lend credibility to Claimant's arguments. The picture of Claimant and her grandson at his graduation is, by all accounts, temporarily prior to either the table incident and the alleged ladder incident. The picture of Claimant at the beach is blurry and doesn't show anything instructive on the issues.

9. That the greater weight of the evidence supports a finding that Claimant did not fall from the top step of the ladder, as she testified. The evidence provides that the Claimant would not need to be standing on the top step of the ladder to reach the items for which she claimed to be reaching. The EMS report reflects that, at the time of the alleged accident, Claimant reported she fell from a lower step.

10. Whether the Claimant suffered an injury in the scope of employment is the burden of the Claimant, and it must be proven by the greater weight of the evidence. Here, Claimant failed to meet her evidentiary burden.

11. Mr. Bitton, as owner of Employer, gave clear and explicit instructions to Claimant not to climb on the ladder on June 16, 2018. The testimony of Christine Sweeting, Leticia Rodriguez, Zachary Edri, Raven Baden, and Amir Bitton support this finding. Even the testimony of the Claimant supports this finding, though she qualified the instruction in her testimony as instructions not to climb the ladder to get on top of the cooler.

12. When an employer limits the sphere of employment by specific prohibitions, injuries incurred while violating these prohibitions are not in the scope of employment and, therefore, not compensable. Here, the greater weight of the evidence establishes Claimant left the sphere of her employment by violating the specific orders not to climb the ladder.

13. Because Claimant's alleged injuries were not suffered in the scope of her employment, the Claimant was not injured by accident arising out of and in the course and scope of her employment on June 16, 2018.

14. The Fund timely filed a Form 51 in this matter, preserving its opportunity to plead and argue affirmative defenses.

15. Regardless of the foregoing Finding that the Fund timely filed a Form 51, preserving its opportunity to plead and argue affirmative defenses, whether the Claimant was injured in the course of employment is Claimant's burden to prove by the preponderance of the evidence and is not an affirmative defense.

16. Under 42-1-40, the Claimant's average weekly wage is \$747.60 with a corresponding compensation rate of \$491.76 per week.

17. Under *Wright v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 152, 442 S.E.2d 186 (Ct. App. 1994), the Claimant was outside of the scope of her employment at the time she alleges to have suffered her injuries.

Based upon these findings, the Commissioner concluded that the Claimant's claim for benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act based on the alleged injury by accident was denied and the Commissioner assessed no hearing costs. The Claimant timely filed a Form 30 appealing the Decision and Order of the Single Commissioner. A hearing was held before the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission on January 24, 2022, and thereafter, the Appellate Panel issued a Decision and Order, on April 19, 2022, fully affirming the decision of the Single Commissioner. Claimant timely filed a notice of appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This claim arose out of Claimant's workplace accident with Employer on June 16, 2018. The Claimant, Ms. Naomi Lynn Bridges, was employed with the Employer's predecessor company since 2012 and had worked at the business until January 2018, when she quit working due to her health issues unrelated to her employment. R at 1754 - 1755. She testified that she returned working for the Employer in March 2018 until the date of her accident. R. at 1760. Ms. Bridges

testified that her job duties with the employer, the Harbour Town Surf Shop, were to “wait on customers, keep the store clean, put out inventor, price inventory . . . [and] assist with the employees.” R. at 1683, ln. 20 - 21. Ms. Bridges further testified that she would typically work from 7:30 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. R. at 1684, ln. 1 – 9. It was her testimony that she worked as much as fourteen to sixteen hours per day and that she worked up to seven days per week. R. at 1685, ln. 6 – 15. Ms. Bridges testified that she would work “80 hours per week plus.” R. at 1685, ln. 10. At the hearing, Claimant’s attorney submitted Claimant’s Exhibit 1, which Ms. Bridges testified was the work schedule for the week, April 9, 2018, to April 15, 2018, and that being the week of the Heritage Golf Tournament, she would have been there the entire week and worked 98 hours. R. at 22 – 23. Ms. Bridges further testified that per Claimant’s Exhibit 2, a pay stub for the period between April 5, 2018, and April 18, 2018, that she was paid \$960.00. R. at 1702, ln. 15 – 21. However, Ms. Bridges testified she actually worked around one hundred and sixty-eight (168) hours over that two (2) week period. And that she was paid \$960 by check and an additional \$1,056.00 in cash from her employers. R. at 1703 – 1704.. At the time of her accident, Ms. Bridges testified that she was being paid \$13.00 per hour. R. at 1694, ln. 13 – 16.

Ms. Bridges testified that on the date of the accident, June 16, 2018, she began her normal work routine, which consisted of getting the newspapers, starting the coffee, counting the safe, icing down the coke machine, and making sure “everything is done before the store is ready to go” before the shop was open for customers. R. at 1714, ln. 10 – 22. She testified that on the date of her accident she was walking around bringing out inventory, cleaning and getting prepared for the following week. R. at 1715. She then stated that she saw Amir Bitton, one of the owners of the Employer, who told her “I don’t want you on the ladder to climb on top of the cooler. That’s what we have Zack for.” R. at 1716. Ms. Bridges testified that sometime later, she noticed that the

candy bins were low on candy, and that the store kept some in wicker baskets above where she could reach. R. at 1717, ln. 10 – 12. She further testified that because “I’m the type of person, if I see something that needs to be done, I’ll do it and forget eating lunch or water” and because she “noticed that Zack was already back in the Surf Shop” she got the ladder like she had “always” done to “bring a box of candy down, put it on the cart.” *Id.*, ln. 12 – 22. She testified that as she was coming down the ladder, she slipped or missed a step, falling and injuring her leg. R. at 1718. Per Claimant’s Exhibit 4, a photo of the ladder she climbed and the area where she fell, Ms. Bridges testified that candies that she was reaching for were on the top shelf and that she fell on her way down the ladder. R. at 1718 - 1719. Ms. Bridges further testified that she would typically get candy from that shelf to put onto the candy rack at least once a week. R. at 1719, ln. 20 – 25. On cross examination, Ms. Bridges testified and indicated referring to the Claimant’s Exhibit 4, that she fell from the second step from the top of the ladder. R. at 1719, ln. 13 – 18.

Later in her testimony, referring to Claimant’s Exhibit 5, Ms. Bridges identified the exhibit as a picture of her at the beach, dated June 15, 2018, the day immediately before her injury, with her legs shown with no wraps or bandages. R. at 1769. She also testified that she walked on the beach that day. R. at 1770. She previously stated that despite employer allegations, she had not been injured the weekend immediately prior to her workplace injury, while visiting family and attending her grandson’s graduation in North Carolina. R. at 1710 - 1712. She also testified that her leg was not injured prior to her workplace injury on June 16, 2018. R. at 1724, ln. 10 – 13. In further cross-examination, Ms. Bridges clarified that she never told the EMS that she fell from the last rung of the ladder, and that she was trying to tell them she fell from near the top of the ladder. R. at 1772, ln. 1 – 8.

## **Leticia Rodriguez**

Leticia Rodriguez testified that she was the manager of the store in June 2018 and was in the store when Ms. Bridges was injured. R. at 1778 - 1779. Ms. Rodriguez testified that “[Ms. Bridges had] actually gone on vacation before [her workplace injury] to visit family and when she came back, she came back with like an injured, you know, foot. She had told us that she had dropped a table on it, and that’s the injury she did have.” R. at 1780, ln. 10 – 14. Ms. Rodriguez also testified that Ms. Bridges “had something wrapped around her foot, and that’s all I remember” *Id.*, ln. 16-17.

Ms. Rodriguez testified that she was present when Mr. Bitton had a discussion with Ms. Bridges, that he overheard him talking to her and that he told her not to use the ladder. R. at 1781. She further testified that she overheard him say “Do not use the ladder. If you need to get something, tell someone else to get it for you.” *Id.*, ln. 15 – 17. She also claimed that Mr. Bitton told her that “If Lynn needs to get anything, you get it for her.” R. at 1782, ln. 1 – 5. Oddly, Ms. Rodriguez testified in response to questions by attorney for the Employer that she had spoken to counsel for Claimant on a prior occasion but told him that she “was already a witness for someone else.” R. at 1783, ln. 19 – 20. Ms. Rodriguez further testified that it was her foot that was wrapped and could not remember which foot. R. at 1803, ln. 14 – 21. Ms. Rodriguez testimony was that Ms. Bridges was prohibited from using the ladder just that one day of her accident and that it was just Ms. Bridges that was allegedly prohibited from using the ladder. R. at 1812 - 1813.

## **Zach Edri**

Zachary Edri, a co-employee of the Claimant’s, testified that he was paid by the hour, that he worked about 30 hours per week for Mr. Bitton, that he received cash under the table, or out of Mr. Bitton’s pocket for the work he performed, and that Mr. Bitton was like family to him. R. at

1819. He also testified that he was paid in merchandise from the store for his work there. R. at 1820. When questioned about his work hours and pay and responding to a subpoena for his pay stubs, Mr. Edri stated that he did not bring them to the hearing pursuant to subpoena by Claimant's counsel. R. at 1846 - 1847. Mr. Edri testified that he worked fewer hours than shown on the schedule. R. at 1854, ln. 17-19.

Mr. Edri further testified that Claimant told him she injured her foot in North Carolina and that she dropped a table on her foot. R. at 1821. He testified that he was told that it was a plastic folding table that fell on her. R. at 1822, ln. 23 – 25. Mr. Edri testified that he was working on the date of Ms. Bridges' workplace accident. R. at 1828, ln. 22 – 25. He further testified that Mr. Bitton said that "Lynn's foot is injured and that he doesn't want her to go on the ladder and that if she needs to go on the ladder, to come get me to go on the ladder." R. at 1829, ln. 16 – 19. He also stated that Mr. Bitton only instructed him to do that for that day only. *Id* ln. 20 – 25.

### **Jamie Willard Hudson**

Jamie Hudson testified that she worked for the employer for about a year. R. at 1870, ln. 8. She testified when asked by Claimant's counsel about her Employer withholding funds from her last paycheck, she stated that it was because she had taken money out of the register and taken chips and drinks from the store. R. at 1891, ln. 17. She admitted that she was fired for stealing.

However, Ms. Hudson testified that she worked forty hours per week and was paid half of her earnings, in cash and half by check. R. at 1871 - 1872. She testified that her employer did not pay her over time. While she testified that she worked for Employer when Claimant was injured, she stated that she was on the beach when she was informed of the incident via telephone R. at 1872, ln. 20. She also testified that she never spoke with Claimant about how the accident took place. R. at 1887, ln. 21 – 23. She further testified that others at the Claimant's workplace such

as Raven Baden and another employee named “Patricia” were telling rumors that Ms. Bridges was injured on purpose to get money, but that she didn’t believe these stories had any basis in fact because of the severity of Ms. Bridges injury. R. at 1873. She further attested to Ms. Bridges’ honesty among other workers of Employers, especially considering that the other employees would steal from Employer and she would not. R. at 1874. Ms. Hudson also testified that Zack told her he was going to lie in his testimony. R. at 1881, ln. 15. She also testified that Zack told her that if she knew what was good for her, she would not “get up there [in court] and say those things,” and that “Amir said he was going to make your [her] life a living hell.” R. at 1882, ln. 19 – 24.

### **Elizabeth Anne McAldine**

Ms. McAldine testified that she was the daughter of Ms. Bridges’ longtime companion Chuck early. R. at 1901, ln. 17 – 21; R. at 1908, ln. 21 – 23. Ms. McAldine testified that she spent the week prior to the alleged accident, from June 8, 2018, to June 16, 2018, with Ms. Bridges, and that she was in good physical condition at that time and did not have any kind of impediment when walking. R. at 1902, ln. 7 – 22. Ms. McAldine testified that she took the photograph of Claimant dated June 15, 2018, submitted as Claimant’s Exhibit 5, which she stated shows Claimant “laying on her beach chair.” R. at 1903, ln. 21; ln. 4.

### **Christine Sweeting**

In Employer’s case in chief, Employer called Christine Sweeting to testify, who stated that she was a co-worker with Claimant for Employer, but that she no longer worked for Employer. R. at 1911. She testified that Ms. Bridges took a vacation to North Carolina for almost a week and that when she returned from vacation she was injured and “had a black boot on her foot . . . and an Ace bandage.” R. at 1912, ln. 19 – 21. Ms. Sweeting testified that Claimant told her “that while

she was in North Carolina, they were moving a table . . . and it fell on her foot” R. at 1912 – 1913. She testified that she was not at the store the day the accident happened. R. at 1913, ln. 15.

### **Zach Edri (Rebuttal)**

The Employer recalled Zach Edri to testify. Mr. Edri testified that he never threatened Ms. Hudson or attempted to influence her testimony.

### **Raven Baden**

At the beginning of the second day of hearing in this matter, the Employer called Raven Baden who testified that she worked for employer from March of 2017 to February of 2019, and that she was working at the time of Ms. Bridges workplace accident. R. at 1939. Ms. Baden testified that during the week that she was injured, Ms. Bridges “came back on that Monday from North Carolina, and she was limping. She had a black boot on. She took it off every once in a while and she had like an Ace bandage around her foot.” R. at 1950 - 1953, ln. 17 – 20. She further stated that Ms. Bridges was limping during the morning before her alleged accident. R. at 1942, Ln. 18 – 21. While she testified that she did not see Ms. Bridges fall, she stated that after the fall, she asked Ms. Bridges how far she fell, and she testified that Ms. Bridges pointed to the bottom step. R. at 1947.

On cross examination by Claimant’s counsel, Ms. Baden testified she was paid by check every two weeks for thirty (30) hours of work per week. R. at 1954, ln. 22 – 23; R. at 1963, ln 2 – 8. She testified that she never worked “40, 50, 60 hours,” for Employer. R. at 1955, ln. 6 – 7. Upon cross-examination by counsel for the UEF, Ms. Baden testified that Mr. Bitton told Ms. Bridges not to go on the ladder, “she just needed to be behind the counter. If she needed any help, to ask us to help her.” R. at 1980, ln 7 – 10. She also testified that Mr. Bitton “came over and told me that if Lynn needed any help to do it, no questions asked. Or if I needed to go on a ladder, then

that's what I had to do, but she was not supposed to go on the ladders at all." *Id.*, ln. 12 – 16. She further testified that those instructions were given to her because Claimant was already injured. *Id.*

### **Amir Bitton**

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