THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM
THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
SCWCC FILE NO. 1808344

Appellate Case No. 2022-000600

Naomi Lynn Bridges, Appellant

v.

Harbour Town Surf Shop, LLC and South Carolina Workers' Compensation
Uninsured Employers' Fund, Respondents

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION
UNINSURED EMPLOYERS' FUND**

Timothy B. Killen, Esq., SC Bar No. 72501
Holder Padgett Littlejohn + Prickett, LLC
945 Houston Northcutt Boulevard
Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
Office: (843) 277-0826
Fax: (843) 589-9000
tkillen@hplplaw.com
Attorneys for Respondent South Carolina
Workers' Compensation Uninsured

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

ARGUMENTS

I. WHETHER THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT CLAIMANT HAS THE BURDEN TO PROVE THAT AN INJURY AROSE FROM AND WAS SUFFERED IN THE COURSE OF HER EMPLOYMENT.

It is axiomatic that the burden of proof is on the claimant to prove facts which will bring the injury under the coverage of the Workers' Compensation Act. *See, e.g., Clade v. Champion Labs.*, 330 S.C. 8, 11, 496 S.E.2d 856, 857 (1998); *Bartley v. Allendale County Sch. Dist.*, 381 S.C. 262, 272, 672 S.E.2d 809, 814 (Ct.App. 2009). Claimant argues that the Commission “appl[ie]d the wrong legal standard throughout their Orders.” Brief of Appellant, p. 16. Claimant argues that a defendant bears the “burden of proving that [Claimant] removed herself from the scope of her employment . . .” *Id.* This Court must reject this argument, as it is always Claimant’s

burden to prove that her injuries are compensable.

If successful, Claimant's argument would reverse her burden of compensability and to shift that to the backs of Defendants. She is arguing that whether an injury was suffered in the course of employment is a rebuttable presumption to be weighed in her favor. Though Workers' Compensation laws are to be construed liberally in favor of inclusion, of course, the purpose of the Act would be turned on its head if Claimant's interpretation were given effect.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(A), injury means "only injury by accident arising out of in the course of employment" S.C. Code Ann § 42-1-160(A); *see also Turner v. SAIA Constr.*, 419 S.C. 98, 105, 796 S.E.2d 150, 154 (Ct. App. 2016) ("For an accidental injury to be compensable, it must "aris[e] out of and in the course of employment." Thus, for an injury to be compensable, it must both arise out of and be suffered in the course of employment. It is well-established that the Claimant bears the burden of proving compensability: "The claimant has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the workers' compensation law . . ." *Crisp v. SouthCo. Inc.*, 401 S.C. 627, 641, 738 S.E.2d 835, 842 (2013).

As the Supreme Court has written,

"It is well established, at least in this jurisdiction, that these phrases are used conjunctively and that an accident, in order to be compensable, must both 'arise out of' and 'in the course of' the employment.' In *Eargle v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co.*, 205 S.C. 423, 32 S.E. (2d) 240, this court said:

"*The two elements must co-exist.* They must be concurrent and simultaneous. One without the other will not sustain an award; yet the two are so entwined that they are usually considered together in the reported cases; and a discussion of one of them involves the other.

"As is generally held, the words 'arising out of' refer to the origin of the cause of the accident, while the words 'in the course of employment,' have reference to the time, place and circumstances under which the accident occurs."

Douglas v. Spartan Mills, 245 S.C. 265, 268-69, 140 S.E.2d 173, 174-75 (1965) (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court wrote that the two elements must co-exist. Without the presence of either of those elements, there cannot be a compensable claim. The Claimant cannot ease or shift that burden by labeling Defendants' defense an "affirmative defense" or an "exception to coverage." Brief of Appellant, p. 17. In her brief, Claimant argues that "the Commission has essentially required [Claimant] to prove a negative, that she was not removed from her employment at the time of her . . . injury." *Id.* This argument fails on its face, as the Commission required only that Claimant prove her injuries arose out of her employment, an essential element of compensability.

Because Claimant failed to prove that she no longer has the burden of proof in a contested case arising under the Act, the Commission's ruling should be affirmed. Further, the Order of the Commission should be affirmed.

Therefore, for the reasons set forth herein and those that may be presented at oral arguments of this matter, the UEF respectfully requests that the Order of the Workers' Compensation Commission be affirmed.

II. WHETHER THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT CLAIMANT FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROOF.

The Claimant argues that, even if she still bears the burden of proof, her injuries nevertheless were suffered in the course of employment. In making these arguments, Claimant cites a 1941 case², one that was decided before the enactment of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160. Regardless, the Claimant appears to agree, though, that disregarding "clear and explicit" instructions from an employer may remove and employment from her employment. *See* Brief of Appellant, pp. 17 – 19.

The seminal case on this issue in the modern era is *Wright v. Bi-Lo*, 314 S.C. 152, 442

² *Johnson v. Merchants Fertilizer Co.*, 198 S.C. 373 (1941). This case is easily distinguishable, as the "order" or instruction therein was not as definitive as the specific instructions given to Claimant in this matter.

S.E.2d 186 (Ct. App. 1994).³ In that case, the Court of Appeals wrote, “When an employer limits the sphere of employment by specific prohibitions, injuries incurred while violating these prohibitions are not in the scope of employment and, therefore, not compensable.” *Wright v. Bi-Lo*, 314 S.C. 152, 155, 442 S.E.2d 186, 188 (Ct. App. 1994) (internal citations omitted). In *Wright*, benefits were denied when an employee of a grocery store violated an express prohibition against chasing shoplifters. Obviously, that prohibition, like the prohibition of an employee with an injured foot from climbing a ladder, was for the employee’s safety and to prevent further injury. Also instructive is the case of *Black v. Town of Springfield*, 217 S.C. 413, 60 S.E.2d 854 (1950). In that case, a police chief was denied benefits after falling from a fire truck, although he had work duties related to fire fighting. His employer expressly prohibited him from riding on fire trucks, but he ignored those instructions. When he was injured, it was determined that his injuries were not compensable. As the Court of Appeals wrote in 1994,

If a police chief’s injuries from riding on a fire truck are not compensable as violative of an express prohibition, even though he has legitimate employment duties at the fire truck’s ultimate destination, a courtesy clerk’s specifically forbidden act of pursuing a fleeing shoplifter cannot be within the scope of his employment.

Wright v. Bi-Lo, 314 S.C. 152, 157, 442 S.E.2d 186, 189-90 (Ct. App. 1994). The same could be said in this case.

Claimant asserts that the case of *Howell v. Kash & Karry*, 264 S.C. 298, 214 S.E.2d 821 (1975) bolsters her position. In that case, a Claimant was awarded benefits for engaging in “good Samaritan” conduct that was not part of his regular duties but was done for the benefit of his

³ It should be noted that the Court in *Wright v. Bi-Lo* distinguished the cases on which Claimant herein relies: “*Johnson* and *Portee* are easily distinguished. . . . More importantly, the present case establishes the existence of ‘clear and explicit’ orders repeatedly communicated to Wright and clearly violated by him in the events leading to his death.” *Wright v. Bi-Lo*, 314 S.C. 152, 156-57, 442 S.E.2d 186, 189 (Ct. App. 1994) (emphasis added). Further, the Court noted that, “The superficial similarity [in *Howell v. Kash & Karry*] to the present case is not controlling.” *Wright v. Bi-Lo*, 314 S.C. 152, 158, 442 S.E.2d 186, 190 (Ct. App. 1994)

Employer ("An act outside an employee's regular duties which is undertaken in good faith to advance the employer's interest, whether or not the employee's own assigned work is thereby furthered, is within the course of employment." *Howell v. Kash & Karry*, 264 S.C. 298, 301, 214 S.E.2d 821, 822 (1975)). That case can be distinguished because the Employer therein had not specifically prohibited such actions, and there was no such "good Samaritan" behavior in this case.

Claimant also cites *Portee v. S.C. State Hosp.*, 234 S.C. 50, 106 S.E.2d 670 (1959). This is another pre-1976 case that is distinguishable. The holding in that case relies not on any criteria relevant to the instant analysis, but only upon what is, essentially, what we know as the Personal Comfort Doctrine. The Claimant in *Portee* left his post due to illness, and his injuries were experienced during the time away from his post ("We now turn to the cases involving the right to recover compensation where death or injury results from an effort of an employee while at work to obtain relief from illness or discomfort. *Portee v. S.C. State Hosp.*, 234 S.C. 50, 55, 106 S.E.2d 670, 672 (1959)) ("It would seem clear that the slight deviation by the deceased to obtain medication for his sore throat did not break the chain of employment." *Portee v. S.C. State Hosp.*, 234 S.C. 50, 58, 106 S.E.2d 670, 674 (1959)).

There is a mountain of evidence that the Commission relied upon in this case to find that the Claimant was given clear and explicit instructions not to get on the ladder from which she alleges to have fallen, to wit:

A. TESTIMONY OF LETICIA RODRIQUEZ

Leticia Rodriguez, a co-worker, testified. She testified she was present when Mr. Bitton addressed Claimant's limitations on the day she alleges she was injured: "He was talking to [Claimant]. I was a couple of feet away, so I heard everything. He actually told her not to use the ladder that day." ROA 1781; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 115, ll. 10 – 12. Ms. Rodriguez testified Bitton told

her not to use the ladder “because [Claimant] had the injured foot” ROA 1781; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 115, l. 15. Ms. Rodriguez testified Bitton told Claimant: “Do not use the ladder. If you need to get something, tell someone to get it for you’ . . . because she had the injured foot already.” ROA 1781; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 115, ll. 16 – 19. Ms. Rodriguez testified that, before the alleged fall, Claimant told her that she was already on medication for her foot injury. ROA 1805; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 139, ll. 1 – 6.

Ms. Rodriguez further testified that Bitton did *not* limit his instructions to climbing on the cooler, and that Claimant wasn’t to use the ladder for any reason. ROA 1781; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 115, ll. 20 – 23. She testified that Bitton “told me, ‘If [Claimant] needs to get anything, you get it for her.’ After that, he walked into the other store, and he told the other employees in there as well, ‘Do not let [Claimant] use the ladder.’” ROA 1782; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 116, ll. 2 – 5. Ms. Rodriguez testified that Bitton gave clear and explicit instructions to Claimant not to get on the ladder. ROA 1785; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 119, ll. 5 – 7.

After being asked multiple times by Claimant’s attorney to recount Bitton’s instructions, Ms. Rodriguez further testified:

Okay. That day Amir [Bitton] told [Claimant] to not use the ladder. He specifically said, ‘Do not use the ladder’ for the same reason of her foot being injured. ‘If you need one of – any – anyone else to get something for you, tell them. After that, he told me ‘Did you hear that? I do not want her to use the ladder at all. If she needs to get something to be pulled that involves using the ladder, get it – get it for her. Or if not, call Zach.

ROA 1811; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 145, l. 22 – p. 146, l. 6.

Clearly, Ms. Rodriguez’s testimony supports the Finding that the prohibition to climb the ladder was clear and explicit.

B. TESTIMONY OF ZACHARY EDRI

Claimant called Zachary Edri, a co-worker, to testify. Mr. Edri testified he was working

on Claimant's alleged date of accident. ROA 1828; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 162, ll. 22 – 25. Mr. Edri testified that Mr. Bitton said, "He said that, you know, [Claimant's] foot is injured, and that he doesn't want her to go on the ladder, and that if she needs to go on the ladder, to come get me to go on the ladder." ROA 1829; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 163, ll. 16 – 19. Mr. Edri further testified that Bitton said, "I've already talked to [Claimant]. I told her not to go on the ladder because of her foot." So at any point at all today, if she ever needs to go on the ladder or needs to get something up high, for her to come [to] me." ROA 1852; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 186, ll. 21 – 25. Mr. Edri later testified that Mr. Bitton instructed him that, should Claimant need to get something from a height, he was to get it for her so that she does not further injure herself. ROA 1856; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 190, ll. 19 – 23.

Mr. Edri testified that Claimant did not ask him for any assistance with climbing on the day she alleges to have been injured. ROA 1857; Tr. Vol. 1, p. 191, l. 22 – p. 192, l. 1.

Clearly, Mr. Edri's testimony supports the Finding that the prohibition to climb the ladder was clear and explicit.

C. TESTIMONY OF RAVEN BADEN

Employer called Raven Baden, a co-worker, to testify. Ms. Baden testified she saw Claimant limping during the morning before her alleged accident. ROA 1942; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 9, ll. 18 – 21. Ms. Baden testified that Mr. Bitton "told [Claimant] not to go on the ladder." ROA 1979; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 46, l. 22. She further testified, "He told her not to go on the ladder [and] that she was looking hurt If she needed any help, [she was] to ask any of us to help her." ROA 1980; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 47, ll. 7 – 10. She testified that Mr. Bitton "came over and told me that if Lynn needed any help, to do it, no questions asked. Or if I needed to go on a ladder, then that's what I had to do, but [Claimant] was not supposed to go on the ladders at all." ROA 1980; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 47, ll. 12 – 16. She further testified that those instructions were given to her because Claimant

was already injured. ROA 1980; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 47, ll. 17 – 19.

Clearly, Ms. Baden’s testimony supports the Finding that the prohibition to climb the ladder was clear and explicit.

D. TESTIMONY OF AMIR BITTON

Employer called Amir Bitton, principal of Employer, to testify. Mr. Bitton testified he was present in the store after Claimant returned from her trip to North Carolina. ROA 1995; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 62, ll. 2 – 3. He testified her foot was wrapped and she told him, “I hurt myself . . . at the graduation of [my] grandson.” ROA 1995; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 62, ll. 5 – 12. He testified her observed her limping. ROA 1995; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 62, ll. 13 – 14; ROA 2038 – 2039; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 105, l. 24 – p. 106, l. 1. He testified she told him she was going to take care of the injury by seeing a doctor. ROA 1996; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 63, ll. 2 – 4.

Mr. Bitton testified that, after hearing Claimant moaning in pain while walking, he instructed her, “Okay, please, no climbing, no ladder, no physical work.” ROA 1997; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 64, ll. 5 – 9. He further testified he told her, “You’ve got Zach if you need to climb on the ladder. Go ask Zack, he’ll do anything, and there’s the rest of the girls for any other chores that you needed to do.” ROA 1997; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 64, ll. 15 – 18. He testified the instructions given to Claimant were “strict instructions”. ROA 1998; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 65, l. 2. Mr. Bitton further testified he instructed her, “Do not go on the ladder. Do not.” ROA 1998; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 65, ll. 6 – 7.

Mr. Bitton testified he told Letitcia, Zack, and Raven not to allow Claimant get on the ladder. ROA 1998; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 65, l. 23 – p. 66, l. 13.

On cross-examination by the attorney for Fund, Mr. Bitton testified he gave Claimant clear and explicit instructions not to get on the ladder due to the condition of her leg. ROA 2096; Tr.

Vol. 2, p. 163, ll. 3 – 12. Mr. Bitton testified that getting on the ladder that day was not part of her job. ROA 2096; Tr. Vol. 2, p. 163, ll. 13 – 15.

Clearly, Mr. Bitton's testimony supports the Finding that the prohibition to climb the ladder was clear and explicit.

E. TESTIMONY OF CLAIMANT

Claimant testified. She admits that she was instructed not to get on the ladder; however, she claims the instructions to her were (1) not to get on the ladder to (2) get on the cooler. Her version of events is that she wasn't to get on the cooler, but she was told not to get on the ladder to get on the cooler (rather than simply being told not to get on the cooler). In the light most favorable to the Claimant, she did not understand the instructions. However, that does not make her alleged interpretation reasonable, nor does it make the instructions any less clear and explicit.

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